
 
To: Members of the  

EXECUTIVE 
 

 Councillor Colin Smith (Chairman) 
Councillor Kate Lymer (Vice-Chairman) 

 Councillors Yvonne Bear, Nicholas Bennett MA J.P., Aisha Cuthbert, 
Christopher Marlow, Angela Page and Diane Smith 

 
 A special meeting of the Executive will be held at Bromley Civic Centre on FRIDAY 

15 JULY 2022 AT 8.30 AM  

 
PLEASE NOTE: This meeting will be held in the Council Chamber at the Civic 

Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, BR1 3UH. If you wish to attend please contact us, 
before the day of the meeting if possible, using our web-form:  
 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/Counci lMeetingNoticeOfAttendanceForm  
 

 
 

 
TASNIM SHAWKAT 
Director of Corporate Services & Governance  

 

Copies of the documents referred to below can be obtained from 

 http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ 

 
A G E N D A 

 

1    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

3    MEADOWSHIP HOMES PHASE 2 (PART 1) (Pages 3 - 20) 

 

4   LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

(ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM 
OF INFORMATION ACT 2000  

 The Chairman to move that the Press and public be excluded during consideration of 
the item of business listed below as it is likely in view of the nature of the business to 

be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the Press and public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information. 

 
 
 

 
 

BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH 
 
TELEPHONE: 020 8464 3333  CONTACT: Graham Walton 

   graham.walton@bromley.gov.uk  

    

DIRECT LINE: 020 8461 7743   

FAX: 020 8290 0608  DATE: 7 July 2022 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/CouncilMeetingNoticeOfAttendanceForm
http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/


 
 

 

 

Item of Business Schedule 12A Description 

5   MEADOWSHIP HOMES PHASE 2 (PART 2) 

(Pages 21 - 26) 
Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 

the authority holding that 
information)  

  



  

1 

Report No. 
FSD22059 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART 1 - PUBLIC 

 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: EXECUTIVE 
COUNCIL 
 

Date:  
Wednesday 13th July 2022 
Monday 18th July 2022 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent  
 

Executive  
 

Key  
 

Title: MEADOWSHIP HOMES PHASE 2 

Contact Officer: Sara Bowrey, Director of Housing, Planning, Property and Regeneration 

Tel: 020 8313 4013    E-mail:  sara.bowrey@bromley.gov.uk  
 

James Mullender, Head of Finance, Adults, Health & Housing 

Tel: 020 8313 4196    E-mail: james.mullender@bromley.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: Director of Housing, Planning, Property and Regeneration 
 

Director of Finance 

Ward: All Wards 

 

1. Reason for report 

This report advises on the option to acquire up to approximately 320 properties under a funding 
arrangement with Orchard and Shipman for use as accommodation to help reduce the current 

pressures in relation to homelessness and temporary accommodation. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

Executive is requested to:  

2.1 Agree to enter into a new limited liability partnership (LLP) arrangement described in this report  

with Orchard and Shipman for the acquisition of up to 320 residential properties (final property 
numbers dependent upon final loan amounts and property purchase prices). 

2.2 Agree that the acquired properties will be leased by the LLP to Orchard and Shipman Homes 

for a 50-year period on an FRI basis and immediately after that period freehold titles will be 
transferred to the Council for £1 with no outstanding debt payable. 

2.3 Recommend that Council agrees the loan of up to £15m to the LLP for a period of 50 years with 
annual repayments starting from year 3 of 1.6% per annum and increasing annually by CPI 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



  

2 

(collared at 0-5%), funded from unallocated balances on the Housing Investment Fund, Housing 
Invest to Save Fund and New Homes Bonus earmarked reserves. 

2.4 Recommend that Council agrees to enter into a guarantee agreement with the Funder to 
guarantee the loan facility of up to £100m to the LLP and undertake to meet the liabilities of the 
LLP in respect of the loan facility in the event of loan repayment default. 

2.5 Agree to enter into (i) the Members’ Agreement for the LLP (between the Council, Orchard and 
Shipman Residential Limited, and the LLP), (ii) a guarantee agreement with the Funder (see 

part 2 report) to guarantee the loan facility of up to £100m to the LLP and undertake to meet the 
liabilities of the LLP in respect of the loan facility in the event of loan repayment default, (iii) a 
loan facility agreement between the Council and the LLP for the loan made by the Council, and 

(iv) a Nomination Agreement with Orchard and Shipman Homes to secure nomination rights to 
the acquired properties (v) and all other ancillary documents in connection with the scheme. 

2.6 Agree the proposed approach to managing changes in the Funder’s rate before the agreements 
are finalised set out in paragraph 7.13. 

2.7 Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Housing, Planning and Regeneration in 

consultation with the Director of Finance, Director of Corporate Services and the Portfolio Holder 
for Renewal, Recreation and Housing to carry out due diligence in connection with the scheme, 

agree the details of each agreement and enter into all relevant agreements in connection with 
this scheme.  

2.8 Agree to appoint Sara Bowrey, Director of Housing, Planning and Regeneration and James 

Mullender, Head of Finance, Adults Health & Housing as the Council’s nominees to the board of 
the LLP, with authority to act on behalf of the Council in relation to all matters not reserved to 

the Council under the Members’ Agreement; such nominees to be indemnified by the Counci l 
and on the basis that the LLP will arrange suitable insurance for its Board members. 

2.9 Note that subject to the approval of the above and final loan amounts/number of properties 

purchased, the scheme will provide full year savings of up to £1.9m per annum. 

2.10 Note that should there be any material change to the scheme from the details set out in this 

report then a further report will be presented to the Executive to inform Members of such change. 

Council is requested to: 

2.11 Agree the loan of up to £15m to the LLP for a period of 50 years with annual repayments starting 

from year 3 of 1.6% per annum and increasing annually by CPI (collared at 0-5%), funded from 
unallocated balances on the Housing Investment Fund, Housing Invest to Save Fund and New 

Homes Bonus earmarked reserves. 

2.12 Agree to enter into a guarantee agreement with the Funder to guarantee the loan facility of up 
to £100m to the LLP and undertake to meet the liabilities of the LLP in respect of the loan facility 

in the event of loan repayment default. 

 

 

Page 4



  

3 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: The accommodation provided ensures that the Council is able to meet its statutory 

responsibilities in respect of housing  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Corporate Policy 
 
1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:  Homelessness Strategy 2018-2023 
 

2. Making Bromley Even Better: CYP to grow up and thrive, People to make their homes in Bromley, manage 
our resources well providing value for money and efficient and effective services for Bromley residents.   

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Financial 
 
1. Cost of proposal: Estimated Cost: up to £15m loan contribution to purchase of the properties  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Estimated net savings of up to £1.9m per annum 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Operational Housing        
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £7.4m 
 

5. Source of funding: Housing Investment Fund, Housing Invest to Save Fund and New Homes Bonus 
earmarked reserves (currently £17m unallocated)      

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Personnel 
 
1. Number of staff (current and additional):  1 FTE additional post  
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:  N/A  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Legal 
 
1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement: Further Details 
 

2. Call-in: Applicable:  Further Details  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Procurement 
 
1. Summary of Procurement Implications: Not Applicable  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Customer Impact 
 
1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  There are approximately 1,600 

households currently placed in temporary accommodation of which almost 1,100 are in forms of insecure 
costly nightly paid accommodation. This scheme would provide up to around 320 good quality cost 
effective affordable housing units to fulfil the Council’s statutory rehousing duties and reduce the current 
reliance on nightly paid accommodation. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Ward Councillor Views 
 
1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:        
 

Page 5



  

4 

3. COMMENTARY – MEADOWSHIP HOMES PHASE 1 

3.1. There are currently approximately 1,600 households in Temporary Accommodation (TA), of 

which approximately 1,100 are in costly forms of nightly paid TA, putting a continued strain on 
the Council’s revenue budget. 

3.2. The Council therefore continues to seek all opportunities to increase the supply of affordable 

housing and reduce the costs in providing temporary accommodation to meet statutory 
rehousing duties and in particular the reliance on costly forms of nightly paid accommodation. 

3.3. In February 2021 Council agreed to enter into a limited liability partnership (LLP) arrangement 
with Orchard and Shipman (O&S), for the acquisition, refurbishment and management of 
approximately 242 residential properties (dependent upon final purchase price) for use as 

affordable rented accommodation.  

3.4. The final documents were executed on the 4th August 2021, with £66.8m funding provided by 

Pensions Insurance Corporation (PIC) and a £20m loan from the Council, with the joint venture 
named Meadowship Homes. 

3.5. This is a key scheme to help mitigate the Council’s homelessness pressures, alongside the 

programme for the development of housing on Council owned sites. On average, each additional 
affordable home saves the Council around £6,200 per annum. 

3.6. As at the end of June 2022, a total of 116 acquisitions have completed (of which 54 have been 
handed over for nomination), with a further 10 exchanges. In total 221 sales have been agreed 
and it is estimated that the total number acquisitions will be in excess of 250. Of these, around 

30% are expected to be in Bromley, with the remainder in neighbouring boroughs, and the vast 
majority within 30 minutes of the Civic Centre. 

3.7. Overall, progress is going well, and O&S have been able to adapt to the changing housing 

market. Although it is slightly behind the planned timetable O&S set, with current projections for 
the scheme showing full completion by the end of the financial year, this is roughly 6 months 

ahead of the more prudent estimate of 24 months assumed in the original financial analysis. 

3.8. The main challenges to date have been: 

 the turnaround time from completion to initial refurbishments works completing and 

properties being ready for tenanting has taken longer than projected, although O&S have 
said they are improving this with additional resources to help manage these works 

 challenges with the conveyancing process – mainly as a result of PIC’s legal/security 
requirements. If a phase 2 goes ahead then there are plans to amend the agreements to 

improve this 

 meeting the original acquisition criteria (split between property sizes and houses/flats). A 

change to the criteria was agreed by Executive in February 2022 to allow a higher proportion 
of flats, although finding 3 bed properties that meet the financial model is still a challenge. 

3.9. Orchard and Shipman are an established (and therefore regulated) registered provider with 

more than 30 years’ experience in successfully acquiring and managing a range of affordable 
housing schemes on behalf of local authorities, developers, housing associations and 

government departments. Orchard and Shipman have worked in partnership with the Council 
for around 12 years sourcing and managing a portfolio of temporary accommodation including 
private sector leased accommodation and the council owned multi -facility units and a small 

number of street properties. 

Page 6



  

5 

3.10. In October 2021 Pinnacle Group acquired Orchard and Shipman and integrated the whole of 
Orchard & Shipman within Pinnacle Group, including their registered provider (Orchard & 

Shipman Homes, which remains as a company in the group structure). The Pinnacle Group has 
a turnover of circa £107m and is a leading mixed-tenure housing management provider, for over 
75,000 mixed tenure homes (on behalf of local authorities, registered providers, tenant co-

operatives, institutional investors and developers). Prior to entering into the Phase 2 
arrangements with Orchard and Shipman, due diligence will be carried out in respect of 

Pinnacle, including as to whether they may, if necessary, provide a guarantee in respect of the 
obligations of Orchard and Shipman as member of the LLP. 

4. OPTIONS FOR PHASE 2 

4.1 As set out in the original report, the scheme was designed with the option to be able to extend 
in the future with the mutual agreement of all parties. Officers have had initial discussions with 

O&S/Pinnacle, who are happy to progress with a second phase. 

4.2 As set out above, each additional property will save the Council around £6,200 per annum, so 
a second phase of say 320 properties would result in total savings of around £1.9m per annum. 

4.3 There are a number of benefits from extending the current arrangement: 

 Minimal additional legal costs/time required so can be completed in a matter of months 

 Potential economies of scale e.g. audit fees, valuation fees, security trustee fees 

 O&S have the staffing and associated providers (conveyancers, trades for refurbishment etc) 

in place to be able to hit the ground running 

4.4 The scheme is not exclusive, so the Council would be free to enter into a similar deal if a proposal 
is received from elsewhere. Clearly if this happened before the phase 2 acquisitions were 

complete then arrangements would need to put in place to ensure schemes were not competing 
against each other for properties.  

4.5 Officers did undertake some market testing in late 2019 seeking proposal for a similar acquisition 
scheme; however, this received limited interest with only two submissions that could have been 
considered, as detailed in the part 2 report. As a result, a full procurement exercise was not 

progressed. 

4.6 It is proposed that the basic legal and governance arrangements will mirror that of the existing 

scheme: 

a. The purpose of the LLP will be to enable the purchase, refurbishment and management of 
affordable housing units. 

 
b. The members’ agreement for the LLP will govern the process for the LLP to identify 

properties to acquire for affordable housing against certain property standards, locations, 
types and size mix.  

 

c. Orchard and Shipman will arrange the acquisition of properties into the LLP based on these 
parameters, and the properties will then be leased by the LLP to Orchard and Shipman 

Homes which is a registered provider.  
 

d. Orchard and Shipman Homes will then be the landlord for the properties and subject to a 

nominations agreement with the Council. The locations would be a mix within and outside of 
the borough but not further than a 60-minute travel time. All properties would be approved 

Page 7



  

6 

by the Council to ensure they meet requirements under the Nominations Agreement before 
proceeding to purchase.  

 
e. The total cost of purchase including all associated fees and any required refurbishment will 

be met from the funds raised by the LLP. 

 
f. As noted above, once acquired the purchased properties will immediately be leased to 

Orchard and Shipman Homes Ltd on a 50-year full repairing and insuring lease basis. 
Orchard and Shipman will enter into a nominations agreement with the Council (on an 
exclusive basis) enabling the properties to be let to tenants nominated by the Council. The 

leasing arrangements will set out full requirements in terms of management and 
maintenance processes and standards. 

 
g. The members’ agreement for the LLP will also set out the arrangements for distribution of 

surplus rental income materially weighted to the Council. Further details are included in 

paragraph 7.20. 
 

h. Orchard & Shipman Homes will pay a fixed rent to the LLP from the day of completion for 
each property, irrespective of rent receivable from any occupational underlettings. 

 

i. Repayment of the loan facility will not start until year 3, providing time for all properties to be 
purchased and let and for funds from the rental stream to build up to ensure the facility 
payments can be serviced. 

 
j. Rental levels will be set at the Local Housing Allowance level. The rental income received 

on the portfolio will then be used to cover the ongoing management and maintenance costs 
together with the funding facility repayments. 

 

k. At the end of the 50-year period, the funding facility and security will be released and the 
Council will have the right to dissolve the LLP for a nominal payment and the assets of the 

LLP will belong to the Council. 
 

l. The properties will be used to provide affordable housing in discharge of the Council’s 

statutory rehousing duty. In terms of discharge of duty compared to temporary 
accommodation, in addition to of course being a better outcome for the tenants, the rental 

income is significantly higher. The proposed structure will also enable flexible use of the units 
as settled affordable homes or private rented dependent upon prevailing need during the 
term. This provides flexibility to deal with any future reduction in homelessness (which 

appears unlikely) and also provides the ability to generate higher income from private rents, 
where necessary i.e. this helps provide alternative income in the event of any freezes in local 

housing allowance which have a detrimental impact on the overall financial model.  
 
m. The proposal is to offer Assured Shorthold Tenancies (AST) which can be for a fixed term or 

periodic. Right to Buy do not apply to AST’s and as they will not be secure tenancies let by 
the Council are not subject to the HRA accounting rules. The government is proposing to 

bring forward legislation with the Renters Reform Bill to end use of fixed term AST’s and 
abolish the ability of landlords to end tenancies using the section 21 no fault eviction ground. 
The proposal is to allow landlords to end tenancies on specific grounds defined in law. The 

government intends to ensure the ground for possession are comprehensive to cover all 
reasonable situations where the landlord will seek to end the tenancy. 

 
4.7 A structure chart showing the relationships and cash flows between parties is shown in Appendix 

1. 

 

Page 8



  

7 

4.8 Due diligence has been undertaken to ensure that the financial and acquisition model is robust 
and mitigates against potential risks of delay in the acquisition programme, changes in the 

market, level of demand for such units. A summary of identified risks and mitigation can be found 
in Appendix 2 of this report. 
 

4.9 An additional post is required in Housing to manage the additional workload in relation to the 
procurement of properties under the proposed scheme. This includes: 

 Creating properties in the Housing system 

 Allocation of properties 

 Setting up rent accounts  

 Monitoring of rent accounts  

 Recording repairs history 

 Producing regular reports 
 

5. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

5.1 This scheme supports children and vulnerable people through the provision of good quality cost 

effective housing supply increasing access to local accommodation ensures that access to 
existing services and support networks can be maintained.  

6. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1  The Council has a published Homelessness Strategy which sets out the approved strategic 
policy in terms of homelessness. This includes temporary accommodation provision and 

reducing the reliance on nightly paid accommodation. The Council already works with a number 
of providers from the provision and management of temporary accommodation.  

6.2   Officers will consider the Council’s statutory obligations under the Equalities Act 2010 as the 

scheme progresses and take appropriate action. 

7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. The proposed scheme would produce full year savings to the Council of around £1.9m per 
annum on temporary accommodation costs based on 320 properties being acquired. After 50 
years the leasehold or freehold titles will be transferred to the Council for £1 with no outstanding 

debt payable. 

7.2. One thing that has changed since the first phase was agreed is the cost of financing. The first 

phase was originally agreed on the basis of a £60m loan from PIC and £20m from the Council 
with annual repayments (capital plus effective interest) of 2.8% and 1.6% of the loan value, 
starting in year 3 and increasing by CPI (collared at 0-4%).  

7.3. As PIC are insuring pension liabilities, their benchmark yield is set by index linked gilt rates. By 
the time the original deal was completed, gilt yields had reduced and a £66.8m loan was secured 

for the same annual repayment i.e. 2.51%. This will create surpluses within the scheme (subject 
to future CPI/LHA increases) which can be used to acquire further properties, or paid over to the 
Council. 

7.4. As of the 7th July, the price of the benchmark index linked gilt (see 1-year chart below) results in 
an indicative yield on a further PIC loan of around 3.2% (interest plus capital) based on the same 

terms as phase 1.  

7.5. To highlight the recent volatility, the gilt prices at the start of December 2021 would have equated 
to a PIC yield of around 2.1%. 

Page 9



  

8 

 

7.6. PIC have provided alternative options for a phase 2 loan which would reduce the rate; however 

due to current inflation levels, they have increased the cap to either 5 or 6%, and have priced 

on the basis of no payment holiday at the start.  

7.7. Revenue & Capital, who helped broker the original deal, have also looked at options to secure 

funding elsewhere at a lower rate, and have obtained indicative figures from an alternative 
funder (see the part 2 report). A summary of the financing for phase 1 along with indicative costs 
of a number of options for phase 2 from both PIC and the alternative funder are provided in 

Appendix 3A (part 2).  

7.8. The options set out are based on the external funder providing £80m, and the amount of Council 

loan that would need to be provided in order to balance the initial loan repayments with the lease 
income from O&S.  

7.9. It is recommended that option 2 from the Alternative Funder is used for phase 2 as it provides 

the best balance of financing rate and therefore the level of council investment required, and the 
base loan terms, as well as being a more flexible approach, for example not requiring security 

over individual assets. 

7.10. It should be noted that due to lender security arrangements, financing from a funder other than 
PIC would require the creation of a new Joint Venture which would involve additional time and 

expense to complete. However, as can be seen from Appendix 3A (part 2), the options from the 
alternative funder are significantly better than from PIC. In particular, not only are PIC’s 

equivalent rates higher, but they also don’t include the first 2 year payment holiday. The 
alternative funder has also said they won’t require security over the individual assets either which 
would help with the initial legal documentation as well as the acquisition processes, and also 

means no trustee costs will be incurred. 

7.11. In addition, early discussions with the GLA indicate that any units acquired from the Council loan 

element could be eligible for grant funding, at the current rental levels assumed within the 
financial model i.e. not subsiding a reduced London Affordable Rent level, which could help 
improve the financial position. 

7.12. The proposal is that the scheme will be financed by a loan of up to £100m from the Funder, 
repaid at around 2.6% per annum (subject to final agreement) and a loan of up to £15m from 

the Council, repaid at 1.6% per annum, both for a term of 50 years. Annual repayments for both 
loans increase annually by Consumer Price Index (CPI) (collared at 0-5%).   

7.13. The scheme has been modelled on an external loan of £80m and a Council loan of £11m, but 

to mitigate any increase in the funder rate as a result of market conditions, approval is sought to 
increase the Council loan up to £15m, and reduce the funder’s loan to £58m if required. 

Conversely, if the funder’s rate decreases, then approval is sought for that loan to be increased 
to up to £100m. The impact of these changes is shown in Appendix 3B (part 2). In the event that 

Page 10



  

9 

the scheme could not be contained within these parameters then any amended proposal would 
be brought back to Executive for agreement. 

7.14. The loan from the Council effectively secures equity in the properties whilst generating an 
income from the loan. It is proposed that the Council loan is funded from uncommitted balances 
on the Housing Investment Fund, Housing Invest to Save Fund and New Homes Bonus 

earmarked reserves, which currently stands at £17m. 

7.15. Details of the lease income from Orchard & Shipman are provided in the part 2 report. Any 

shortfall in lease income compared to the loan repayments would be guaranteed by the Council.  

7.16. The lease to Orchard & Shipman would be on a full repairing and insuring basis, so the risks of 
future repairs and maintenance costs would be Orchard & Shipman’s risk, along with service 

charges, management, bad debts and void costs (unless the Council fails to nominate within 
timescales). 

7.17. As the loan repayment amount includes principal repayments as well as interest, the Effective 
Interest Rate (EIR) is different to the rates in paragraph 7.12 above. Assuming annual CPI 
inflation of 1%, the total repayments on an £80m loan over 50 years is £130m, which equates 

to an EIR of 0.97%. In other words, £80m invested at 0.97% interest (accumulating), would be 
worth £130m in 50 years. The total loan repayments and EIR for CPI rates of 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5% 

is set out below: 

CPI

Total 

repayment

£m EIR

Total 

repayment

£m EIR

1% 130 0.97% 11 0.00%

2% 172 1.54% 15 0.56%

3% 230 2.14% 19 1.15%

4% 313 2.77% 27 1.77%

5% 431 3.43% 36 2.43%

£80m funder (2.6%) £11m Council (1.6%)

 

7.18. For the Council’s loan, the EIR is likely to be less than the rate the Council might achieve through 

treasury management investments, so there may be a loss of treasury management income. 
The table below sets out the total net impact on treasury management over 50 years and 

average per annum for different combinations of CPI and treasury management rates: 

Net gain/(loss) over 50 years (£'000)

1% 2%

1% -3,024 1,046

2% -6,040 -1,438

Average gain/(loss) per annum (£'000)

1% 2%

1% -60 21

2% -121 -29

CPI

Treasury 

management

CPI

Treasury 

management  

7.19. As part of the funding agreement, there will be no repayments for the first two years which will 

eliminate the risk of a shortfall in rental income from tenants not being sufficient to cover loan 
repayments during that period. 

7.20. This also means that any income from Orchard & Shipman during this period would generate a 

surplus within the LLP which could be used to purchase additional properties. This would 

Page 11



  

10 

effectively generate a return at the same rate as the lease to Orchard & Shipman. Alternatively, 
any surplus could be set aside, either in the LLP or transferred to a Council earmarked reserve 

to mitigate any future shortfalls as a result of LHA rate increases being lower than CPI, or to 
offset any loss of treasury management income as referred to in paragraph 7.18 above.  

7.21. A key part of the financial model is how the various cashflows change over time. The loan 

repayments increase by CPI (collared at 0-5%), and rent income from Orchard and Shipman will 
increase in line with Local Housing Allowance (LHA) levels, which are linked to 30 th percentile 

rent level for the area. 

7.22. Scenario modelling was carried out for phase 1 to consider the potential impact of LHA rent 
inflation being lower than CPI, which showed that even if LHA rent inflation was at 1% compared 

to CPI assumed at 2% for the entire 50 years, the net deficit that the Council be guaranteeing 
would not exceed the savings on temporary accommodation at any point.  

7.23. A key risk to the Council is therefore if CPI increase on the loan repayments exceed the LHA 
increase on rent payments from Orchard and Shipman. If the LHA increase is lower than CPI 
for a sustained period then the Council would have the option to mitigate this by letting the 

properties on alternative tenures including up to market rents. This would reduce the savings on 
temporary accommodation budgets, but would ensure the continued financial viability of the 

scheme overall.  

7.24. As the Council has learned from the More Homes Bromley and Phase 1 schemes, there are two 
main other risks that could have a significant financial impact; that purchases are not completed 

in the expected timeframe, and that purchase prices exceed those in the financial model. 

7.25. The first risk, of delayed acquisitions is mitigated by the fact that there are no loan repayments 
in the first two years. If the acquisitions still haven’t been completed by this date, then the surplus 

built up in the first two years as set out in paragraph 7.20 above should further mitigate this risk. 

7.26. There is no specific mitigation for the risk that purchase prices exceed the financial model; 

however there have been no significant issues to date with Phase 1, and the modelling has been 
updated to reflect current property prices.    

7.27. In addition, there is a risk that the Council may have to provide top-ups where households may 

be affected by the benefit cap. These could potentially be funded from Discretionary Housing 
Payments, or from the Operational Housing homeless prevention budget which would reduce 

the savings on temporary accommodation. Officers will aim to ensure that this is minimised 
through the acquisition programme taking into consideration the number of bedrooms and 
relevant LHA levels for the area. 

7.28. From an accounting perspective, the Council’s Treasury Management advisors, Link Asset 
Services, have confirmed that the scheme should be accounted for as a Joint Venture. Under 

this proposed accounting treatment, if the Council’s share of net assets exceeds material levels 
(roughly over £5m), then the Council would have to prepare group accounts and include an 
Investment in Joint Ventures line on the Balance Sheet showing its share of the net assets, as 

well as its share of the profit or loss in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
A liability may also have to be recognised for the guarantee. In accordance with Capital 

Financing Regulations, the loan from the Council will have to be treated as capital expenditure, 
with the repayment treated as a capital receipt, although interest will be treated as revenue 
income. 

7.29. As the proposed structure is an LLP, the Council’s tax advisors, PSTax, have confirmed there 
are no Corporation Tax liabilities as may arise with a wholly-owned company structure (as LLP’s 

are transparent for tax purposes); and that there are no other tax implications for the Council 
such as VAT and SDLT. 

Page 12



  

11 

7.30. As set out in paragraph 4.9, there is a need for an additional post in Housing at a cost of 
approximately £45k which will be funded from the savings achieved. 

7.31. In addition, there are additional one-off legal costs estimated at £32k that will be incurred during 
the acquisition phase for checking the legal documents for the properties purchased through the 
Council loan as the Council will have security over these properties.   

7.32. Reflecting all the arrangements shown above there remain significant potential savings to the 
Council of up to £1.9m per annum on temporary accommodation costs based on 320 properties 

being acquired. Based on current estimates, the profile of the savings are shown below:   

£'000

2022/23 15

2023/24 704

2024/25 1,615

Full year 1,939  

7.33. There will be a further significant benefit from the broadly self-financing scheme as after 50 years 
the leasehold or freehold titles will be transferred to the Council for £1 with no outstanding debt 

payable. 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1   The proposal is for the Council and Orchard and Shipman (being for these purposes a subsisting 
Orchard and Shipman company within the Pinnacle Group) to set up a limited liability partnership 
(LLP). LLPs are corporate bodies established under the Limited Liability Partnerships Act 2000, 

and have tax transparency (i.e. tax on profits is not applied to the LLP but to its members).  

 8.2   The funder (please see the part 2 report) would enter into a Loan Facility Agreement with the 

LLP to make up to £100 million available to the LLP for the purposes of the LLP acquiring and 
refurbishing properties.  The Council will guarantee the liabilities of the LLP to the Funder under 
the Loan Facility Agreement, if and to the extent that the LLP is unable to meet the loan 

repayments. This approach has financial benefits in terms of the cost of the loan. The funder 
will take a floating charge over the assets of the LLP as security for the loan. Further, the Council 

will make a separate loan of up to £15 million to the LLP to acquire and refurbish properties.  

8.3     Under the LLP arrangement, Orchard and Shipman as a member of the LLP will have 
responsibility for procuring properties and refurbishing the properties within the agreed budget 

per property. These obligations would be documented in the legal agreements. Orchard and 
Shipman will be responsible for instructing relevant professionals such as surveyors, external 

lawyers and works contractors (the costs of which will ultimately fall to the LLP). As noted, it is 
intended to establish greater efficiency with regard to the conveyancing process than under the 
first phase scheme. When a property is ready to let the LLP will grant a 50 year lease to Orchard 

and Shipman Home (OSH) which is a registered provider and part of the Pinnacle Group. OSH 
will enter into a Nomination Agreement with the Council giving the Council the right to nominate 

tenants to OSH for the properties leased to it.   

8.4   A number of legal documents will need to be entered into to set up the LLP and capture the 
obligations of each party. These will be closely based on the first phase scheme documents, but 

amended to reflect the different loan amounts, any adjustment to the property criteria (in light of 
recent experience under the first phase), together with any other necessary and consequential 

changes. As noted, it is intended that there be a floating charge over the properties acquired but 
unlike the first phase, no fixed charge on individual properties. It is anticipated that the following 
key legal documents will again be required: 

 LLP Members’ Agreement between the Council, Orchard and Shipman, and the LLP;  

Page 13



  

12 

 Nomination Agreement with OSH; 

 Funding Agreement between the Council and LLP; 

 Loan Facility Guarantee Agreement between Council and the Funder. 

 Other documents in support of the arrangement will include: 

 Form of appointment of LLP board nominees; 

 Possible loan security instruments (in favour of the Funder and the Council); 

 Template leases and tenancy agreements; 

 Template forms of property acquisition documentation; 

 Services agreements and contracts with relevant professionals (e.g. surveyors, lawyers and 
works contractors); 

 Collateral warranties in support of the above-mentioned appointments and contracts 

(enabling recourse by the Council in particular); 

 Services agreement between the LLP and Orchard and Shipman for the services provided 

by them to the LLP in relation to property acquisitions either stand-alone or as part of the 
Members’ Agreement. 

8.5  It is considered that the proposed transaction is not subject to the application of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 as the dominant element of the transaction is the provision of 
finance by the Council to the LLP to support acquisition of properties by the LLP which is exempt 

from public procurement rules; noting that the Public Procurement Bill is currently before 
Parliament and not yet in force. The documentation for Phase 2 (based on the first phase) will 

follow these principles, whereby the property acquisition and related refurbishment work is by 
way of agreements between the LLP and Orchard and Shipman. The upkeep of the properties 
falls on Orchard and Shipman under the leases and the Council’s ability to nominate is ancillary 

and not a services contract. State Aid rules are to be replaced by the regime established under 
the Subsidy Control Act 2022 (in October 2022). As with the first phase, no subsidy is being 

given to an “enterprise”, principally because the loan from the Council will be on arms’ length 
terms and at a market rate of interest. The Council guarantee, in favour of the Funder is 
supportable in subsidy control terms because it is a necessary commercial arrangement in 

support of the scheme. Further detailed consideration of any subsidy control issues will be 
undertaken (and legal advice obtained) to ensure that no unlawful subsidy is made, and having 

regard to the emerging guidance and general practice under the new Act.  

8.6  The Council may rely on its general power under the Localism Act 2011 (Section 1) as well as 
section 9 of the Housing Act 1985 to be a member of the LLP and enter into the proposed 

arrangements for acquisition of properties for housing. Under the Localism Act, anything done 
for a commercial purpose must be done via a company (and not an LLP). However, provided 

the dominant purpose of the arrangement is to meet housing needs, there is no commercial 
purpose here. This legal position is established by the case of Peters v London Borough of 
Haringey [2018] EWHC 192 (Admin) where it was confirmed that a Limited Liability Partnership 

(LLP) structure can legitimately be used to create joint ventures with the private sector to 
promote regeneration objectives (being for a non-commercial purpose). In this case the purpose 

is not regeneration, but (as noted) housing supply. It does not matter for these purposes that 
the LLP itself may generate profit; it is the dominant purpose of the Council in being a member 
of the LLP that matters. Under the Limited Liabilities Partnerships Act 2000, a LLP has to be 

Page 14

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.bailii.org%2Few%2Fcases%2FEWHC%2FAdmin%2F2018%2F192.html&data=04%7C01%7CShupriya.Iqbal%40bromley.gov.uk%7Cc4b683219e6d4908848f08d89b896c95%7C8cc3d50b245a4639bab48b879ac9838c%7C0%7C0%7C637430361848319467%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=dzfLC0HxovemkTTTIgJa7VD1h0il04hZcnjABnhw%2FR4%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.bailii.org%2Few%2Fcases%2FEWHC%2FAdmin%2F2018%2F192.html&data=04%7C01%7CShupriya.Iqbal%40bromley.gov.uk%7Cc4b683219e6d4908848f08d89b896c95%7C8cc3d50b245a4639bab48b879ac9838c%7C0%7C0%7C637430361848319467%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=dzfLC0HxovemkTTTIgJa7VD1h0il04hZcnjABnhw%2FR4%3D&reserved=0


  

13 

formed for carrying on a business “with a view to profit”. However, merely making a profit from 
activities or maximising return did not, in the Haringey case, mean that those activities were 

carried out with a commercial purpose.  
 
8.7 The recommendations in this report seeks approval from members to delegate authority to the 

Director of Housing, Planning and Regeneration in consultation with the Director of Finance, 
Director of Corporate Services and Portfolio Holder for Renewal, Recreation and Housing to 

agree the details of each agreement and enter into all relevant agreements in connection with 
this scheme. Should there be any significant change to the scheme from the details set out in 
this report, then a further report will be presented to the Executive to inform members of such 

change. 

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Personnel; Procurement 

Background Documents: 

(Access via Contact Officer) 

Property acquisition Scheme Proposal; Council 1st March 

2021 
Meadowship Homes – Update and Change to the 
Acquisition Criteria; Executive 9th February 2022 

 

Page 15



This page is left intentionally blank



Page 1 

A 

D C 

B 

MEADOWSHIP HOMES - STRUCTURE CHART  

Bromley Council 
(Member) 

Limited Liability 
Partnership 

(Freehold Owner) 

A – Property purchase facility to the LLP for the purposes of acquiring properties. 

B – Council will guarantee the liabilities of the LLP under the facility.  The Funder can take security over the assets of the LLP. 

C - LLP will benefit from a right to take a surrender of the Lease for a nominal sum. 

D – Pursuant to the Lease, O&S will pay a fixed rent to the LLP.   

O&S Homes 
(Lease) 

Occupational 
Tenants 

(Underlease) 

Lease 

Lease

/AST 

Rent 

Rent 

Funder 

O&S 
(Member) 

APPENDIX 1

P
age 17



T
his page is left intentionally blank



Risk Register

Risk Comments Impact Probability 

Regulations change that threaten 
viability of the programme 

Highly unlikely that regulation change will be applied retrospectively. In such 
event, acting reasonably parties to agree changes to adapt accordingly 

None Expected Low 

Significant increase in property 
prices/reduction in available properties 
on the market meaning that properties 
cannot be acquired within the funding 
available. 

Due diligence has been undertaken to ensure a clear evidence base on 
property availability and property prices. The model allows a level of 
flexibility on financial numbers. The Council agrees the final acquisition 
programme, and this will be kept under review and can be adjusted to reflect 
market changes. The model assumes a relatively speedy acquisition 
programme to reduce the risk of significant market changes and long-lasting 
impact on the market. 

None Expected or a 
slight reduction in the 
overall number of units 
acquired 

Very low. 

Changes in local housing allowance/ 
benefit subsidy arrangements reducing 
rental income stream during the term of 
the lease. 

Overall, based on market trends it is unlikely that the rental increases built 
into the model will not be achievable within subsidy arrangements. However, 
the proposed facility repayment holiday until year 3 will allow for a sinking 
fund to be established to assist in covering future costs. A proportion of 
properties could be rented at market rents to cross subsidise lower 
affordable housing rental levels. A proportion of properties could also be sold 
if the value has increased significantly. In addition, even if a future decision 
was made to top up any shortfall this would still be significantly less than the 
net costs of nightly paid units. 

No impact or a slightly
reduced number of 
properties available to 
meet statutory 
rehousing duties 

Low 

Local housing allowance rates reduced 
during acquisition programme. 

Expectations are that the LHA rates will remain at least at current rates for 
the next 2-3 years and it is highly unlikely that rates will fall. However, should
this occur during procurement then the acquisition strategy can be adjusted 
to purchase an increased proportion in areas with higher LHA rates or a 
larger proportion of 3 and 4 bed units which produce a higher rental charge. 

No impact or a slightly 
reduced number of 
properties purchased 

Low 

Sales do not complete and legal and or 
valuation costs incurred. 

The model assumes a proportion of sales will not proceed to exchange of 
contracts. Checks are in place to minimise the rate of fall through. O&S bear 
the cost unless LBB instruct for a sale not to proceed 

No impact – already 
costed into the model 

Very low 

Property refurbishment cost higher 
than anticipated 

There is sum built into the model for refurbishment costs and procedures in 
place through inspection and survey to ensure costs are accurately 
identified. Any additional costs are an O&S risk 

No Impact expected Very low 

APPENDIX 2

P
age 19



T
his page is left intentionally blank



Document is Restricted

Page 21

Agenda Item 5
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is left intentionally blank



Document is Restricted

Page 25

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is left intentionally blank


	Agenda
	3 MEADOWSHIP HOMES PHASE 2 (PART 1)
	Exec 150722 Meadowship Homes Appendix 1 - Structure Chart
	Exec 150722 Meadowship Homes Appendix 2 - Risks and Mitigations
	7a PROPERTY ACQUISITION SCHEME PROPOSAL
	appendix 2 housing acqusitions



	5 MEADOWSHIP HOMES PHASE 2 (PART 2)
	Exec 150722 Meadownship Homes Appendix 3 Financing Options Part 2




